7-25-2017

## State v. Chappell Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44960

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

After seventeen-year-old Alex James Chappell pled guilty to possession of marijuana with the intent to deliver, the district court sentenced him to five years, with two years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. About four months later, the district court relinquished jurisdiction without a hearing. Alex then filed an Idaho Criminal Rule 35 (“Rule 35”) motion. The district court held a hearing and denied the motion. Alex now appeals to this Court, arguing the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence and by denying his Rule 35 motion.

## Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

On July 30, 2015, a police officer was dispatched to Alex’s family home in reference to a drug call. (Presentence Investigation Report (“PSI”),<sup>1</sup> p.4.) Alex’s stepfather believed Alex had marijuana in his room. (PSI, p.4.) Alex was seventeen years old and just finished his junior year of high school. (PSI, pp.2, 4, 12.) The police officer searched his room and found 3.83 ounces of marijuana. (PSI, pp.4–5.) The next day, the State filed a Petition in magistrate court alleging Alex committed the crime of possession of a controlled substance, marijuana, with the intent to deliver, in violation of I.C. § 37-2732(a), (e). (R., pp.10–11.) Alex stipulated to the waiver of juvenile court jurisdiction. (R., p.63.) Based in part upon the stipulation, the magistrate issued a decree waiving jurisdiction. (R., pp.63–65.)

Alex then waived a preliminary hearing. (R., pp.84–86.) The magistrate bound him over to district court. (R., pp.84–86.) The State charged him with possession of marijuana with the intent to deliver. (R., pp.88–89.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Alex pled guilty to the charge. (R., pp.94, 98; Tr. Vol. I,<sup>2</sup> p.8, Ls.7–16, p.11, L.20–p.13, L.7.) The State agreed to recommend three years of probation, with an underlying sentence of four years, with two years fixed. (R., p.98.)

Alex failed to comply with court compliance and failed to appear at the first sentencing hearing. (R., pp.98, 134–38, 147.) As such, the State was no longer bound by its recommendation and recommended a sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (R., p.98; Tr. Vol. II, p.6, Ls.20–24, p.7, Ls.10–11.) In addition, the State recommended the district court

---

<sup>1</sup> Citations to the PSI refer to the eighty-two page electronic document containing the confidential exhibits, including the Addendum to the PSI (“APSI”).

<sup>2</sup> There are two transcripts on appeal. The first, cited as Volume I, contains the entry of plea hearing, held on December 21, 2015. The second, cited as Volume II, contains the sentencing hearing, held on June 13, 2016, and the Rule 35 motion hearing, held on February 17, 2017.

retain jurisdiction instead of probation.<sup>3</sup> (Tr. Vol. II, p.6, Ls.19–20.) Alex requested probation or, in the alternative, a period of retained jurisdiction. (Tr. Vol. II, p.9, Ls.17–19.) The district court sentenced him to five years, with two years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.159–63; Tr. Vol. II, p.15, Ls.7–12.)

About four months after sentencing, the district court issued an order relinquishing jurisdiction. (R., pp.169–71.) The district court did not hold a hearing. (R., p.170.) The district court’s decision was based solely on the APSI, which informed the district court that Alex received two formal disciplinary sanctions (“DORs”) for tattooing in a correctional facility and possession of drugs (inhaling NO<sub>2</sub> gas). (PSI, p.75.) Alex timely appealed from the district court’s order. (R., pp.173–74.)

Alex then moved for reconsideration of his sentence pursuant to Rule 35. (R., p.180.) The district court held a hearing on the motion and took the matter under advisement. (*See generally* Tr. Vol. II, p.18, L.6–p.80, L.9.) Four days later, the district court issued an order denying Alex’s Rule 35 motion. (R., pp.220–23.)

---

<sup>3</sup> The written plea agreement included an appeal waiver. It stated in relevant part:

By accepting this offer the defendant waives the right to: . . . appeal any issue in this case, including . . . the sentence . . . . However, the defendant may appeal the sentence if the Court exceeds the recommendation made by the State at sentencing regarding: (1) the determinate portion of the sentence, and/or (2) a probation recommendation, and/or (3) a retained jurisdiction recommendation.

(R., p.98.) During the entry of plea, the district court informed Alex that only “two exceptions” to the appeal waiver “would apply here”: “If the Court exceeded the fixed part of the State’s recommendation, that being the two years, or if I declined to put you on probation, then you have the right of appeal. Short of that, you do not.” (Tr. Vol. I, p.9, Ls.7–15.) However, this appeal waiver provision is no longer valid, as the plea agreement itself was not binding on the parties by the time of sentencing. Alex breached the agreement by failing to appear at a hearing and by failing to comply with court compliance; the State recommended a harsher sentence. Because the plea agreement was not binding, Alex regained his right to appeal the district court’s sentencing decision.

## ISSUES

- I. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed, without probation, upon Alex, following his guilty plea to possession of marijuana with the intent to deliver?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it denied Alex's Rule 35 motion?

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A Unified Sentence Of Five Years, With Two Years Fixed, Without Probation, Upon Alex, Following His Guilty Plea To Possession Of Marijuana With The Intent To Deliver

“It is well-established that ‘[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.’” *State v. Pierce*, 150 Idaho 1, 5 (2010) (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (alteration in original)). Here, Alex’s sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. See I.C. § 37-2732(e) (five year maximum). Accordingly, to show that the sentence imposed was unreasonable, Alex “must show that the sentence, in light of the governing criteria, is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts.” *State v. Strand*, 137 Idaho 457, 460 (2002). Similarly, “[t]he choice of probation, among available sentencing alternatives, is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court . . . .” *State v. Landreth*, 118 Idaho 613, 615 (Ct. App. 1990).

“‘Reasonableness’ of a sentence implies that a term of confinement should be tailored to the purpose for which the sentence is imposed.” *State v. Adamcik*, 152 Idaho 445, 483 (2012) (quoting *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 148 (2008)).

In examining the reasonableness of a sentence, the Court conducts an independent review of the entire record available to the trial court at sentencing, focusing on the objectives of criminal punishment: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public; (3) possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing.

*Stevens*, 146 Idaho at 148. “A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution.” *State v. Delling*, 152 Idaho 122, 132 (2011).

Here, Alex asserts the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence under any reasonable view of the facts. He contends the district court should have suspended execution of his sentence and placed him on probation in light of the mitigating factors, including his young age, troubled childhood, and family support.

Alex grew up in an unstable environment. His parents “always fought” when he was a child. (PSI, p.10.) His father was an alcoholic and used drugs. (PSI, p.39.) Alex remembers his parents “throwing stuff and breaking things.” (PSI, p.37.) Likely in response to the trauma at home, Alex started acting out in the fourth grade and “hanging around the wrong kids.” (PSI, p.37.) In 2010, around the same time his parents separated, Alex started using marijuana and haze (synthetic marijuana). (PSI, pp.13–14, 37, 38.) After his parents’ divorce, Alex lived primarily with his father. (PSI, pp.10, 40.) His father “was his best friend,” and they were very close. (PSI, p.10.) Then, in January of 2013, Alex’s father died unexpectedly of a heart attack in his sleep. (PSI, pp.10, 37.) Alex, who was fourteen years old at the time, was the last person to see his father alive. (Tr. Vol. II, p.11, L.6.) Alex “struggled greatly” to cope with his father’s death. (PSI, p.10.) A close family friend explained:

Alex and his father were very close. Almost too close at times. They did everything together such as dirt bike riding and camping. I believe Alex has not fully dealt with the grief of his father’s sudden death three years ago. Since that time, Alex has battled with depression and the feeling of worthlessness. I have seen first hand [sic] how hard it has been for him to grow up without a father and to lose such an important person in the midst of his teenage years. He has had so much grief that it became a challenge for him to communicate with other people.

(PSI, p.26.) Following his father's death, Alex was diagnosed with depression, prescribed anti-depressants, and considered suicide. (PSI, pp.13, 36, 37, 39.) He moved back in with his mother and stepfather. (PSI, p.10.) He also received counseling through the Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, Children's Mental Health. (PSI, p.22.) Before his father's death, Alex was very active in sports, especially boxing, but this and other positive aspects of his life fell to the wayside as he continued to make poor choices. (PSI, pp.11, 12, 22, 26, 40; Tr. Vol. II, p12, Ls.6–23.) Alex kept using drugs and alcohol, hanging out with the wrong crowd, and getting in trouble, culminating with the instant offense. (PSI, pp.6–9, 13–14, 39, 40.)

After the instant offense, Alex realized he had to change. He told the district court at sentencing:

I know what mistakes I made. I wish I could take them back. Two months I've spent in this jail has been a learning experience. I never want to come back to this place. This has been the longest I've been incarcerated. There are people in this jail twice and three times my age still making the same mistakes. That's not who I want to be. That's not who I want to be around. I'd rather get it into my head now before I waste my life behind bars because each day I am locked up is a day I can never get back. I'm better than this, I just want to prove it.

(Tr. Vol. II, p.10, L.20–p.11, L.4.) Alex also told the district court that he was motivated to succeed, was ready to turn his life around, and had learned from his mistakes. (*See* Tr. Vol. II, p.10, L.20–p.13, L.13.) Further, he explained to the district court that he had not fully dealt with his father's death and that he wanted to make his father proud. (Tr. Vol. II, p.11, Ls.5–11.) Once Alex turned eighteen (about four months before sentencing), he started receiving survivor benefits through social security. (Tr. Vol. II, p.11, Ls. 11–12.) He only received those benefits if he enrolled in school, passed his classes, and was not incarcerated. (Tr. Vol. II, p.11, Ls.12–14.) He told the district court that he planned to save that money while he finished high school and then use it to enroll in the College of Southern Idaho for an associate's degree in business and

financing. (Tr. Vol. II, p.11, Ls.16–20.) In sum, Alex’s plan on probation was “to continue intensive outpatient, obtain another job, complete summer school, and right after my final semester of high school, I will get back into the boxing gym, start competing again.” (Tr. Vol. II, p.12, L.24–p.13, L.2.)

Moreover, Alex had great support from his family. His mother, sister, and two close family friends wrote letters of support. (PSI, pp.21–27.) In one letter, his mother stated:

Alex is a person with a good heart. Alex has not had the normal teenage experience. Life has thrown him more of this terrible world than most of us will ever go through. Through it all, the good and the bad, as well as the joys and sorrows, he has remained a good soul. I strongly believe in Alex.

Alex is remorseful for his mistakes. I believe sentencing him to a term in prison would only expose him to further bad influences. I humbly ask you to please give Alex an opportunity to set his life back on track and not let a bad decision alter his life's direction.

(PSI, p.21.) His sister explained:

I care about Alex’s future and I want to try to make you feel the same way.

Alex is a person of good moral character. I realize that might seem hard to believe, given his history, but it’s true nonetheless. I have seen him go through ups and downs, but all the while I have been convinced that he is a kind and decent person at the core. I believe that he just needs some guidance. He just needs to know that people believe in him so that he can become the person I know he is on the inside.

Alex has made some mistakes, but he is incredibly remorseful, and is willing to do whatever it takes to make amends. I believe that he just needs a chance to show everyone that he is a good person. I realize that Alex broke the law, and I do not believe that he should go without punishment.

I believe that Alex known [sic] realizes how large the repercussions are of breaking the law. As a result of his time spent in custody, he lost his job. I believe this was a wake-up call for him and I truly believe that in the future he will do better.

(PSI, p.24.) Along with these letters of support, Alex’s mother was present at the sentencing hearing. (Tr. Vol. II, p.9, L.2.) Alex’s attorney informed the district court that his mother had

been in contact with a local doctor to establish a treatment plan for Alex on probation. (Tr. Vol. II, p.9, Ls.3–16.)

This information available at sentencing showed Alex could succeed on probation. Despite his setbacks as a juvenile, Alex was motivated to become a contributing member of society, and he had the family support to make those changes. But the district court did not give adequate weight to this information. For example, the district court faulted Alex for thinking only about himself (such as his plan for probation) rather than how his crime harmed the community. (Tr. Vol. II, p.13, L.25–p.14, L.14.) It is unreasonable, however, to expect someone of Alex’s age and background to have the wherewithal to fully grasp how his crime affected others. The district court should have viewed Alex’s goal to succeed on probation as a mitigating factor. Similarly, the district court faulted Alex for being smart and motivated to get sober. (Tr. Vol. II, p.14, Ls.15–25.) The district court focused on Alex’s belief that he could easily get sober if he “really put effort into it” as showing that he made the choice to sell marijuana. (Tr. Vol. II, p.14, Ls.15–25.) Again, it is unreasonable to hone in on single statement made by a teenage boy on his goals for sobriety and then base sentencing decisions on that statement.

As another example, the district court failed to give any weight to Alex’s youth as a mitigating circumstance. The district court stated at sentencing:

Trust me, I’m very sensitive to the fact that a person of your age has the potential not to fare well in the Idaho State Penitentiary, okay? I understand that. But you’re in the big leagues now. We’re not in juvenile court anymore. Your life so far in the judicial system has been a slap on the wrist.

(Tr. Vol. II, p.15, Ls.1–6.) After ordering the period of retained jurisdiction, the district court went on to describe “what you are about to have happen to you in your life” while on the rider. (Tr. Vol. II, p.15, L.20–p.16, L.10.) The district court discussed how Alex would fare in adult prison:

[On the rider,] [y]ou're going to be in – associating with people just like you have seen in the Twin Falls County jail. Some of those people are going to be very motivated to change their lives. Some of those people are there to play the game, okay? They won't last very long because they'll get shipped to Boise to go out and serve their sentences. You have to be your own man. By that I mean make your own decisions, and if you are truly committed to wanting to change your life, you will get a ton out of this program, and if you're just here to play the game, I'll get a report back that says Alex Chappell doesn't really want to program, impose his sentence. Then you and I won't see each other anymore. *Then you will be living up at the main site. What do you suppose happens there to somebody your size? Think you're a boxer? You would be a punk in that system, given your size, the way you look. Nothing wrong with the way you look, but you're fair game. Believe me, that is not a life you want to live.*

I think that you have got to make some significant mental changes in your life, and I think this program is the best I can offer you. I think if I put you back on probation today, it would just be a question of time before you relapsed and got back in trouble again. I'm not going to do it. It's time that you faced the consequences for the decision that you made.

(Tr. Vol. II, p.16, L.11–p.17, L.9 (emphasis added).) Examining these statements, Alex submits the district court failed to give any consideration to his young age as a mitigating factor. Instead, the district court openly acknowledged that Alex would be “a punk” and “fair game” in prison “given your size” and “the way you look.” In addition, the district court failed to give sufficient, if any, weight to the support of his family. In light of Alex's age, maturity level, and troubled childhood, the district court failed to exercise reason in fashioning the appropriate sentence for Alex. Therefore, he submits the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

## II.

### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Alex's Rule 35 Motion

“A Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence is essentially a plea for leniency, addressed to the sound discretion of the court.” *State v. Carter*, 157 Idaho 900, 903 (Ct. App. 2014). Rule 35 states in relevant part:

The court may correct a sentence that has been imposed in an illegal manner within the time provided herein for the reduction of sentence. The court may reduce a sentence within 120 days after the filing of a judgment of conviction or within 120 days after the court releases retained jurisdiction. . . . Motions to correct or modify sentences under this rule must be filed within 120 days of the entry of the judgment imposing sentence or order releasing retained jurisdiction and shall be considered and determined by the court without the admission of additional testimony and without oral argument, unless otherwise ordered by the court in its discretion; provided, however that no defendant may file more than one motion seeking a reduction of sentence under this Rule.

I.C.R. 35(b).<sup>4</sup> In reviewing the grant or denial of a Rule 35 motion, the Court must “consider the entire record and apply the same criteria used for determining the reasonableness of the original sentence.” *Carter*, 157 Idaho at 903. The Court “conduct[s] an independent review of the record, having regard for the nature of the offense, the character of the offender and the protection of the public interest.” *State v. Burdett*, 134 Idaho 271, 276 (Ct. App. 2000). “Where an appeal is taken from an order refusing to reduce a sentence under Rule 35,” the Court’s scope of review “includes all information submitted at the original sentencing hearing and at the subsequent hearing held on the motion to reduce.” *State v. Araiza*, 109 Idaho 188, 189 (Ct. App. 1985). “When presenting a Rule 35 motion, the defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion.” *State v. Huffman*, 144 Idaho 201, 203 (2007).

---

<sup>4</sup> This version of Rule 35 was in effect when Alex filed his motion. Effective July 1, 2017, Rule 35 reads:

Within 120 days of the entry of the judgment imposing sentence or order releasing retained jurisdiction, a motion may be filed to correct or reduce a sentence and the court may correct or reduce the sentence. . . . Motions are considered and determined by the court without additional testimony and without oral argument, unless otherwise ordered. A defendant may only file one motion seeking a reduction of sentence.

I.C.R. 35(b).

Recently, this Court outlined the appropriate requests for relief in a Rule 35 motion after relinquishment. In *State v. Flores*, the defendant filed a Rule 35 motion after relinquishment requesting that the district court reinstate jurisdiction. No. 43946, 2017 Opinion No. 68, pp.1, 5 (June 20, 2017). This Court held that Rule 35 does not allow the district court to consider that request. *Id.* at p.5 & n.1. This Court reasoned:

Rule 35 does not create a general basis for requesting reconsideration of an order or a judgment in the criminal context. Rule 35 instead narrowly operates to permit the correction, modification, or reduction of criminal sentences in certain instances. Flores’s request for jurisdiction to be reinstated does not constitute a correction, modification, or reduction of a criminal sentence. Thus, Rule 35 is inapplicable here.

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