8-28-2017

## State v. Chappell Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44960

A. Introduction

Police found two large and three small clear plastic bags containing marijuana, a small scale, a large hunting knife and six clean baggies in Alex James Chappell's school backpack.

(Conf. Exhibits, p. 4.) Chappell was, at the time, on juvenile probation for petit theft and resisting and obstructing an officer. (Conf. Exhibits, pp. 4, 8.) The amount of marijuana in Chappell's possession, 108.8 grams or about 3.83 ounces, was about 17 times as much as officers would expect if it were merely for personal use. (Conf. Exhibits, p. 5.) Circumstances suggested Chappell had been dealing marijuana for a while, and he admitted he had been selling for about two years. (Conf. Exhibits, pp. 4, 6.) Chappell stated he did not use marijuana, but sold it to make money. (Conf. Exhibits, p. 6.)

The state charged Chappell with one count of possession of marijuana with intent to deliver. (R., pp. 88-89.) As part of a plea agreement that involved the state dismissing pending juvenile charges and making specific sentencing recommendations, Chappell pled guilty. (R., pp. 94, 98-108.) The district court imposed and executed a sentence of five years with two years determinate, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp. 159-63.)

On appeal, Chappell argues the district court "should have suspended execution of his sentence and placed him on probation in light of the mitigating factors, including his young age, troubled childhood and family support." (Appellant's brief, p. 5.) Review of the record, however, shows this argument to lack merit.

B. Standard Of Review

The length of a sentence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard considering the defendant's entire sentence. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007) (citing State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002); State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 159 P.3d 838 (2007)). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. Id. (citing State v. Trevino, 132 Idaho 888, 980 P.2d

552 (1999)). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Baker, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing State v. Lundquist, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)). Whether to retain jurisdiction is a question left to the court's discretion, as is the decision to grant probation. State v. Hernandez, 122 Idaho 227, 230, 832 P.2d 1162, 1165 (Ct. App. 1992).

C. Chappell Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court's Discretion

To bear the burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion, the appellant must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence was excessive. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007). To establish that the sentence was excessive, he must demonstrate that reasonable minds could not conclude the sentence was appropriate to accomplish the sentencing goals of protecting society, deterrence, rehabilitation, and retribution. Farwell, 144 Idaho at 736, 170 P.3d at 401. In determining whether the appellant met his burden, the court considers the entire sentence but, because the decision to release him on parole is exclusively the province of the executive branch, presumes that the determinate portion will be the period of actual incarceration. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007).

The factors relevant to the court's discretion in ordering execution of the sentence or probation are set forth by statute as follows:

(1) The court shall deal with a person who has been convicted of a crime without imposing sentence of imprisonment unless, having regard to the nature and circumstances of the crime and the history, character and condition of the defendant, it is of the opinion that imprisonment is appropriate for protection of the public because:

(a) There is undue risk that during the period of a suspended sentence or probation the defendant will commit another crime; or

(b) The defendant is in need of correctional treatment that can be provided most effectively by his commitment to an institution; or

(c) A lesser sentence will depreciate the seriousness of the defendant's crime; or

(d) Imprisonment will provide appropriate punishment and deterrent to the defendant; or

(e) Imprisonment will provide an appropriate deterrent for other persons in the community; or

(f) The defendant is a multiple offender or professional criminal.

(2) The following grounds, while not controlling the discretion of the court, shall be accorded weight in favor of avoiding a sentence of imprisonment:

(a) The defendant's criminal conduct neither caused nor threatened harm;

(b) The defendant did not contemplate that his criminal conduct would cause or threaten harm;

(c) The defendant acted under a strong provocation;

(d) There were substantial grounds tending to excuse or justify the defendant's criminal conduct, though failing to establish a defense;

(e) The victim of the defendant's criminal conduct induced or facilitated the commission of the crime;

(f) The defendant has compensated or will compensate the victim of his criminal conduct for the damage or injury that was sustained; provided, however, nothing in this section shall prevent the appropriate use of imprisonment and restitution in combination;

(g) The defendant has no history of prior delinquency or criminal activity or has led a law-abiding life for a substantial period of time before the commission of the present crime;

(h) The defendant's criminal conduct was the result of circumstances unlikely to recur;

(i) The character and attitudes of the defendant indicate that the commission of another crime is unlikely.

I.C. § 19-2521. “The purpose of the retained jurisdiction procedure is to provide a period for evaluation of the offender's potential for rehabilitation and suitability for probation.” Bradford v. State, 124 Idaho 788, 790, 864 P.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 1993).

At sentencing the district court expressed several of its sentencing concerns about Chappell consistent with the applicable legal standards. (6/13/16 Tr., p. 13, L. 19 – p. 17, L. 9.) First, it was concerned about Chappell’s lack of remorse. (6/13/16 Tr., p. 14, Ls. 5-14.) Second, the court was concerned that Chappell’s criminality was the result of conscious intelligent choice, rather than impulse or addiction. (6/13/16 Tr., p. 14, Ls. 15-25.) Responding to a defense argument (6/13/16 Tr., p. 9, Ls. 17-22), the court stated it was “very sensitive to the fact that a person of [Chappell’s] age has the potential to not fare well in the Idaho State Penitentiary,” but that the juvenile system had thus far amounted to an ineffectual “slap on the wrist” (6/13/16 Tr., p. 15, Ls. 1-6). The district court imposed a sentence of five years with two years determinate and retained jurisdiction for 365 days. (6/13/16 Tr., p. 15, Ls. 7-12.) In conclusion, the district judge stated:

I think that you have got to make some significant mental changes in your life, and I think this program is the best I can offer you. I think if I put you back on probation today, it would just be a question of time before you relapsed and got back in trouble again. I'm not going to do it. It's time that you faced the consequences for the decisions that you made.

(6/13/16 Tr., p. 17, Ls. 3-9.)

The district court did not abuse its discretion by concluding it needed a period to evaluate Chappell’s potential for rehabilitation and suitability for probation. Its specific concerns about Chappell’s rehabilitation potential (6/13/16 Tr., p. 13, L. 19 – p. 17, L. 9), supported by Chappell’s extensive record of juvenile offenses (Conf. Exhibits, pp. 6-10), the fact he was selling marijuana for about two years as a business rather than to feed any personal addiction

(Conf. Exhibits, pp. 4, 6), and the fact he was on juvenile probation when he committed the instant crime (Conf. Exhibits, pp. 4, 8, 10), show the district court made a reasonable decision based on the applicable law and facts.

Chappell argues the district court abused its sentencing discretion by “imposing an excessive sentence under any reasonable view of the facts” and “should have suspended execution of his sentence and placed him on probation in light of the mitigating factors, including his young age, troubled childhood, and family support. (Appellant’s brief, p. 5.) The “mitigating factors” cited by Chappell are: (1) he “grew up in an unstable environment” (Appellant’s brief, p. 5); (2) he has “struggled greatly to cope with his father’s death,” which caused him to be diagnosed with depression which was treated with medication and caused “positive aspects of his life” to fall “to the wayside” to be replaced with alcohol and drug use and, ultimately, criminal behavior (Appellant’s brief, pp. 5-6 (internal quotations omitted)); (3) he professed a desire to change and a plan for his future (Appellant’s brief, pp. 6-7); and (4) he “had great support from his family” (Appellant’s brief, pp.7-8). These claimed “factors” do not show an abuse of discretion.

First, the “factors” relied on by Chappell do not show that the sentence of five years with two years determinate for possession of marijuana with intent to deliver is excessive. The evidence Chappell claims supports his “factors” was before the district court. The district court did not abuse its discretion by reaching different conclusions than Chappell about the significance or weight of this evidence.

Second, the “factors” have little, if any, relevance to the decision whether to grant probation or to retain jurisdiction. Chappell does not contend that the district court did not find facts *sufficient* to impose the sentence but retain jurisdiction, see I.C. § 19-2521(1), and the

“factors” he advocates are not “grounds” that “shall be accorded weight in favor of avoiding a sentence of imprisonment.” I.C. § 19-2521(2). Even accepting the “factors” as true and deserving of weight does not show that the district court abused its discretion in concluding it needed a better “evaluation of [Chappell]’s potential for rehabilitation and suitability for probation.” Bradford, 124 Idaho at 790, 864 P.2d at 628.

Chappell’s record and the facts of the crime justify the district court’s sentence of five years with two years determinate and retained jurisdiction. Chappell has failed to show an abuse of sentencing discretion.

## II.

### Chappell Has Shown No Error In The Denial Of His Rule 35 Motion

#### A. Introduction

Shortly after Chappell’s placement on retained jurisdiction, the Idaho Department of Correction recommended that the district court relinquish jurisdiction. (Conf. Exhibits, p. 73.) The recommendation was based primarily upon Chappell engaging in “major rule violations,” specifically getting a face tattoo while at the facility and use of drugs (NO2 cartridges used as inhalants). (Conf. Exhibits, pp. 75-76.) Chappell “was removed from the facility abruptly due to his involvement in drug use and lack of cooperation with the investigation into that matter.” (Conf. Exhibits, p. 76.) The report concluded:

In the short time Mr. Chappell was at this facility he received two Class B DORs. The second of these DORs was for using N02 as an inhalant, which is a behavior Mr. Chappell has received criminal charges for in the past. He has not taken full advantage of this opportunity to turn his life in a different direction. He has not demonstrated that he is willing to move away from his criminal and addictive behavior. Due to his behavior at this facility, he was unable to continue his program at NICI. It is recommended that the court relinquish jurisdiction at this time.

(Conf. Exhibits, p. 78.) Based on the report, the district court relinquished jurisdiction. (R., pp. 169-71.)

Chappell thereafter filed a Rule 35 motion “for reconsideration of the relinquishment of jurisdiction.” (R., p. 180.) The motion attached reports allegedly showing “the disciplinary actions against Defendant regarding both the tattoo and the inhalant were actually dismissed.” (R., pp. 180, 182-83.) The district court ordered an evidentiary hearing. (R., pp. 193-94.) After hearing the evidence presented (2/17/17 Tr., p. 22, L. 5 – p. 68, L. 19), the district court concluded the issue before it for decision was whether to “continue with the with the relinquishment” or put Chappell on probation (2/17/17 Tr., p. 79, Ls. 8-11). The district court ultimately denied the motion. (R., pp. 220-23). The district court found that in subsequent hearings at IDOC related to the first two DORs “Chappell admitted to the tattoo-related DOR but the drug-related DOR was dismissed.” (R., p. 221.) The district court further found that after filing the Rule 35 motion Chappell “got a second tattoo, for which he received a second DOR.” (Id.) The district court denied the motion, in large part because “the new DOR convinces the Court that its decision was the appropriate one.” (R., pp. 222-23.)

On appeal Chappell, citing State v. Flores, 162 Idaho 298, \_\_\_, 396 P.3d 1180, 1183-84 (2017), acknowledges that reinstating the court’s retained then relinquished jurisdiction was beyond the scope of a proper Rule 35 motion. (Appellant’s brief, p. 11.) He argues, however, the district court abused its discretion by not granting the motion by suspending execution of the sentence and placing him on probation. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 11-12.) Even assuming that ordering probation was within the scope of his motion, Chappell has failed to show an abuse of discretion.

B. Standard Of Review

A motion for reduction of sentence under Rule 35 is a plea for leniency, and the Court reviews the denial of the motion for an abuse of discretion. State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 203, 159 P.3d 838, 840 (2007). “In conducting our review of the grant or denial of a Rule 35 motion, we consider the entire record and apply the same criteria used for determining the reasonableness of the original sentence.” State v. Carter, 157 Idaho 900, 903, 341 P.3d 1269, 1272 (Ct. App. 2014).

C. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Denying Chappell’s Rule 35 Motion

A motion for reduction of sentence under Rule 35 is essentially a plea for leniency, addressed to the sound discretion of the court. State v. Knighton, 143 Idaho 318, 319, 144 P.3d 23, 24 (2006). To prevail on a Rule 35 motion, a defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the motion. State v. Adamcik, 152 Idaho 445, 484-85, 272 P.3d 417, 456-57 (2012); Huffman, 144 Idaho at 203, 159 P.3d at 840.

The district court summarized the new evidence presented after sentencing as including an APSI that “documented two disciplinary offense reports (DORs) the defendant received: one for a tattoo-related incident, and one for a drug-related incident” and also “documented some progress the defendant made during the rider,” and evidence presented directly in support of the motion showing “dismissal of the drug-related DOR” but the issuance of a new DOR for another tattoo. (R., pp. 22-21.) Relying primarily upon the fact of a new DOR for a new tattoo (a behavior for which Chappell had been disciplined before), the district court “in its discretion” denied the motion. (R., pp. 222-23.) The court specifically rejected the argument that the new

tattoo DOR was merely the product of “unwise or impulsive” decision-making, but instead evidenced “deep-seated criminal thinking” and that Chappell had “still not learned respect for rules” and was “therefore ill-equipped for probation.” (R., p. 222.) Because the district court correctly applied the law to its factual findings, it did not abuse its discretion.

On appeal Chappell argues “the new tattoo DOR does not prove that he will be unsuccessful on probation” and that he correctly argued that the act was impulsive and the district court incorrectly found that it was indicative of criminal thinking and lack of respect for the rules. (Appellant’s brief, p. 12.) Chappell has shown neither clear error in the district court’s factual findings nor that the inferences drawn from those facts were unreasonable. See State v. Jensen, 137 Idaho 240, 246, 46 P.3d 536, 542 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Moreover, the credibility of witnesses, the weight to be given their testimony, and the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the evidence were all matters within the province of the district court.”). He has therefore failed to show an abuse of discretion.

#### CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court and the order denying the Rule 35 motion.